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ANGLO-CATHOLIC HISTORY SOCIETY 
www.achs.org.uk 

Newsletter—December 2015 
 

 
St Mary, Lastingham 

ABOUT THE NEWSLETTER 
Thanks to the enthusiasm of our members we 
have a ‘bumper’ edition this time. There are 
more book reviews, reports on the three trips 
held this year as well as dates and items of 
news. 
 I have been invited by the Committee of the 
ACHS to take on the job of producing the 
Newsletter. I am honoured, pleased, surprised 
and some-what daunted by the task. Naturally I 
am very anxious to receive a regular supply of 
material to fill the pages: reviews, reports on 
events, places that you have visited, an account 
of your research. Anything relevant to Anglo-
Catholic history that will be of interest to other 
members is welcome. Some past editions have 
included a ‘Featured Essay’. Please do not 
hesitate to send yours for consideration. The 
next edition will appear at about the time of the 
AGM which as usual will be held in June. 
 On the subject of communication, the 
Society’s website is receiving many ‘hits’ and 
there have been many positive comments. We 
also have an Anglo-Catholic History Society 
Facebook Group. Some may regard this as 

somewhat ‘worldly’ and not for them but it 
certainly appeals to younger people (though not 
exclusively so) and very quickly attracted over 
250 members. It is a quick and easy way of 
spreading information about events, 
anniversaries, commemorations, interesting 
churches, new publications and anything 
happening throughout the country relevant to 
Anglo-Catholic history. Looking ahead, some 
splendid lectures have been arranged for 2016 
by our Chairman, Fr Perry Butler and trips are 
being arranged. 

Steven Savage 
stephen.leeds@btinternet.com 

4 Austhorpe Gardens, Leeds LS15 8TF 

DATES FOR YOUR DIARY 
25 January 2016 
7.00 p.m. Anglo-Catholicism in Ghana, by 
Canon Andrew Grant, who has spent many 
years in Ghana and is a Canon of Kumasi. 

13 June 2016 
6.30 p.m. Annual General Meeting, followed 
by lecture on Rethinking Christendom. Anglo-
Catholicism and Society between the Wars, by 
Revd Dr Mark Chapman, Professor of the 
History of Modern Theology in the University 
of Oxford and Vice Principal of Ripon College, 
Cuddesdon. He has previously lectured to the 
Society on Reunion Schemes in the nineteenth 
century. 

3 October 2016 
7.00 p.m. A lecture on Dr Edward Bouverie 
Pusey by Revd Dr George Westhaver, Principal 
of Pusey House, Oxford. 

All scheduled to take place at 
St Clement Danes, in the Strand. 

http://www.achs.org.uk/
mailto:stephen.leeds@btinternet.com
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Here, as at Tatterford, we heard the organ 
played, by a talented member. The present 
church was built in 1790, replacing an earlier 
building. Unusual for East Anglia the main 
door is at the west end, with no door on the 
north or south sides. We were treated to 
sumptuous cakes and tea in the hall across the 
road, before returning to King’s Lynn. It was a 
happy and memorable day and we were 
fortunate to be taken to some wonderful 
churches ‘off the beaten track’. We are most 
grateful to Fr Bundock and his people; and to 
Robert our driver who negotiated some very 
narrow country lanes without need of satnav, he 
too having considerable local knowledge. 

Stephen Savage 

NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COACH 
TRIP – 11th JULY 2015 
The Annual Coach Trip from London during 
the summer is now an established part of the 
Society’s activities. This year some of our 
regulars could not make it but we did have 
some new participants. I hope everybody 
enjoyed themselves: they certainly appeared to 
and to be excited by what they saw. We went to 
Northamptonshire, not an area in which much 
has been written about Anglo-Catholicism, but 
with a history which is reflected in the holding 
of a local Congress in Kettering in the 1920s. 
 We started at the incomparable church of St 
Mary, Wellingborough, (photo right) Comper’s 
masterpiece, now refurbished and open again. 

 
St Mary, Wellingborough 
This astounded those who had not seen it 
before and gave fresh delight to those who had. 

We next visited two other churches in 
Wellingborough, the Victorian All Saints and 
the mediaeval All Hallows, at both of which we 
were warmly welcomed and there was plenty to 
see. We then made the short journey to 
Kettering, where we dispersed for lunch and 
met up again at the ancient parish church of SS 
Peter & Paul, which has another Comper 
window and a Travers altar. Then we made the 
short trip to St Mary, Kettering, which was a 
church few knew. It is an archetypal back-street 
Anglo-Catholic citadel, well-kept and unasham-
edly Full Faith, with a very pleasant and keen 
young vicar who made us all welcome cups of 
tea. Then it was on to our last visit, the stately 
Pearsonesque church of St Matthew, 
Northampton, which has not only a long Anglo-
Catholic tradition but also has a number of 
works of art installed by Father Hussey, who 
later became Dean of Chichester. These include 
a Sutherland mural and a Henry Moore 
Madonna. 
 Next year’s expedition is in early planning 
and may well be to Kent. 

Michael Yelton 

ANNUAL LONDON WALK – 
EALING – 3rd OCTOBER 2015 
This year the Annual London Walk took place 
in Ealing, sometimes known as the ‘Queen of 
the Suburbs’ on Saturday 3rd October 2015. 
Eight churches including a private chapel were 
visited in mostly autumnal sunshine. It was 
well attended by about a 50-strong party, some 
travelling a considerable distance from outside 
London and with two visitors from the USA. 
 The tour started at Christ the Saviour, 
designed by Sir George Gilbert Scott with work 
by Bodley and windows by Hugh Easton. We 
were greeted with coffee, an introductory talk 
by Father Andrew Davis, and while looking 
round also saw the Sacristy by Bodley. Our 
next call was at St Peter’s, Mount Park Road, 
designed by J.D. Sedding. The vicar, Father 
David Neno, after giving a short introductory 
talk, kindly showed us two large framed 
drawings by the architect, and vestments over 
90 years old. A Harvest Fair enriched the visit 
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with coffee, tea, and excellent cakes. Members 
also bought several guidebooks. 
 We then walked to the Roman Catholic 
Ealing Abbey, dating from the 1890s but only 
completed in 1998. Father Peter Burns, one of 
14 members of the present Benedictine 
monastic order, welcomed us, and after a 
chance to look around, guided us to the 
cloisters, showing some architectural drawings, 
and to the Sacristy. Completing the morning 
itinerary we visited St Barnabas’, Pitzhanger 
Lane, built 1914-16 by Ernest Shearman. John 
Salmon devotes a chapter to the church in the 
ACHS publication, Ernest Charles Shearman 
(1859-1939), An Anglo-Catholic Architect, An 
illustrated Introduction to his life and work, 
published in 2009. The vicar, Father Justin 
Dodd, gave a short talk, pointing to the large 
mural, 69 by 25 feet, in the sanctuary by James 
Clark and featuring many angels, some playing 
the organ! The church had also installed in 
2011 a large three manual organ from St Jude’s 
Church, Southsea. 
 In the afternoon we walked south of the 
Broadway, starting at the Polish Catholic 
Church which is a remarkable example of the 
Catholicisation of a Methodist Church 
originally built in Gothic style in 1867 by 
Charles Jones, the architect of Ealing Town 
Hall. There were impressive sculptured Stations 
of the Cross, two large stone angels on the 
reredos, and confession boxes at the back. 
 The walk continued through the modern 
shopping centre, and passed Pitzhanger Manor, 
the home of the architect Sir John Soane in the 
early 1800s, and the Ealing Film Studios, where 
the downstairs of Downton Abbey was filmed. 
We then saw where Cardinal John Henry 
Newman went to school from 1808 to 1816 
although no original buildings remain. This was 
near St Mary’s Church, with a dominating 
tower by Teulon, and some interesting stained 
glass including two William Morris windows 
viewed well from the large gallery. An 
introductory talk was given, explaining that St 
Mary’s was the original medieval parish of 
Ealing. The church was extensively restored in 
2002/2003. 

 
Pitzhanger Manor 
We then walked through the churchyard 
containing some fine Georgian tombs. Next 
stop, an unscheduled visit as it was 
unexpectedly open, was All Saints Church, 
built in Gothic style in 1903-5 by W.A. Pite as 
a memorial to Spencer Perceval, the Prime 
Minister assassinated in 1812. Touching the 
edge of Ealing Common we proceeded to our 
last call, St Saviour’s Clergy House, a 
remarkable undivided Edwardian survival of 
1909, designed by George H. Fellowes Prynne. 
For some this was the highlight of the day 
including the private chapel, still frequently 
used, and the roof terrace overlooking the site 
of St Saviour’s Church destroyed by a bomb on 
16th November 1940 in the Blitz. Some 
fascinating photographs and newsletters of St 
Saviour’s were on display. The day finished 
with a splendid tea party with delicious cakes. 

David Neil-Smith 

BOOK REVIEWS 
Anglicans on High: 
The Anglo-Catholic 
revival in Suffolk and 
the surrounding area 
by Roy Tricker, 
Published by  
Fitzwalter Press, 2014 
ISBN 1 901470 21 0 
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organisation the Cambridge Camden Society, 
the author provides a masterful summary. More 
than this, he argues that St Luke’s represents a 
very early example of the ways in which their 
ideas were put into practice at parish level. The 
man who seems to have been largely 
responsible for this was the church’s first vicar, 
the Revd William Henry Lewthwaite (1817-
1892). 
 ‘Lewthwaite’ is the sort of surname that 
sticks in the mind, and some readers of this 
review may have encountered his father, the 
Revd George Lewthwaite, the long-serving 
rector of Adel, Leeds, between 1809 and 1854. 
William Henry was born in Adel, educated at 
Oakham School, Rutland, and Trinity College 
Cambridge. He was ordained in 1840 and for 
two years served as his father’s curate in Adel. 
In acknowledgement of his munificence, 
George Lane Fox was granted the right of 
nominating the curate of St Luke’s. Not known 
for his religious devotion (very much the 
regency rake), why he selected the Revd 
William Henry Lewthwaite remains a mystery. 
Certainly he came with good references, 
naturally one from his father but also from the 
Vicar of Collingham who lived at Bramham 
Old Hall, and Dr Hook of Leeds. The 
connections between St Luke’s and the Leeds 
clergy were to remain strong throughout the 
nineteenth century and the author examines in 
particular, the revealing links between the Revd 
W.H. Lewthwaite and the clergy at St 
Saviour’s. 
 It was Dr Hook who preached at the 
consecration service at St Luke’s on 8th June 
1842, choosing as his text, “Little children, 
keep yourselves from idols.” An interesting 
choice of theme, and one that the author 
observes, lends itself to a variety of 
interpretations. Often accused of harbouring 
Romanist tendencies, was Dr Hook anxious to 
draw a clear line between his own High Church 
sympathies and those of the Roman Catholic 
Church? That the Revd William Henry 
Lewthwaite shared Hook’s High Churchman-
ship should have surprised no one. Whether he 
ever met the key founders of the Oxford 
Movement is doubtful but he certainly was 

acquainted with some of their key supporters, 
and whilst a Cambridge University student he 
became a founder member of the Cambridge 
Camden Society. At its first meeting in 
November 1839, he delivered a paper on the 
sculptures in Adel Church. 
 One of the great strengths of Stephen 
Savage’s methodology is what contemporary 
sociologists call ‘social network analysis’ 
which amongst other things empirically studies 
the relationships between actors in order to 
understand the diffusion of new ideas and 
practices. As mentioned earlier, writing a 
history of St Luke’s was only one of the 
author’s purposes, as a stalwart of the Anglo-
Catholic History Society, he carefully maps the 
connections and circles of influence which 
eventually were to result in many so-called 
Tractarian ideas being accepted into the 
Anglican mainstream. 
 After a ministry of nine years at St Luke’s, 
the Revd Lewthwaite suddenly announced that 
he was joining the Roman Catholic Church. In 
a densely-packed St Anne’s Cathedral, Leeds, 
on 2nd April 1851, along with four members of 
the clergy from St Saviour’s, Leeds, he was 
received into the Church in a “service of great 
pomp and splendour” in the presence of John 
Henry Newman. The author speculates about 
Lewthwaite’s reasons for “going over”. The 
restoration of the Catholic hierarchy in 1850 
had provoked jitters, some might even say 
panic, within the Church of England leading to 
greater surveillance of the Oxford Movement 
and its supporters, whom many regarded as 
some kind of fifth column. Perhaps it was a 
case of Lewthwaite jumping before he was 
pushed. 
 In language which seems today not just 
intemperate but inconceivable, the Leeds 
Intelligencer headlined their report, Perverts to 
the Church of Rome, writing of Roman 
Catholicism as a “corrupt and impure faith”, 
and denouncing what it regarded as the 
seduction of the converts. In the Revd 
Lewthwaite’s case, the finger of suspicion 
pointed to the charming but “slippery-tongued” 
Father Clifford, the Roman Catholic priest at St 
Edward’s, Clifford, who certainly accompanied 
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Lewthwaite from the village to St Anne’s in 
April 1851. Anti-Catholic feeling was then so 
central to any sense of British identity that 
these events in Leeds were reported in 
newspapers throughout Britain often under the 
byline, “The Leeds Perverts”! To those of us 
living in the twenty-first century, this may all 
seem preposterous but it is a salutary warning 
to historians that despite the results of the 1851 
Religious Census, religious faith and the 
controversies it fostered, are essential to an 
understanding of the nineteenth century. 
 St Luke’s survived the hiatus of the Revd 
Lewthwaite’s conversion and the author goes 
on to chart the vicissitudes of Anglo-
Catholicism in Clifford. In the immediate 
aftermath, a safe pair of hands was found in the 
appointment of the Revd John Barclay Scriven 
but from 1893 incumbents at St Luke’s 
maintained and renewed the Anglo-Catholic 
traditions first established in 1842. 
 This is not intended as a quibble but needs to 
be pointed out: this is not a book primarily 
about church architecture (St Luke’s was 
designed by John Bownas and William 
Atkinson of York). For the architecturally-
minded, the text does demonstrate how 
theology and liturgy find their visual expression 
in the arrangement of church interiors, their 
fittings and furniture. What Stephen Savage has 
provided, is a model for any future writers of 
parish histories that the local can never be 
separated from a larger history, and it is the 
connection between the two that makes this 
such a rewarding book. 

Clifford in Context is available from Stephen 
Savage (to whom cheques for £5 should be 
made payable). Address on page one of this 
Newsletter. 

John Middleton: 
Victorian Provincial 
Architect 
by Brian E. Torode 
Published by Accent, 
2008 
ISBN 9539976251 

Now available through 
Abebooks or Amazon 
for about £10 

  

The late Revd Brian Torode was a member of 
the Society who had an abiding interest in 
churches and their clergy. In 2006 he wrote this 
pioneering study of John Middleton, a man 
whose name means little to all but the most 
assiduous readers of Pevsner. Father Torode 
uncovers details of his life and extensive, 
mainly ecclesiastical, work in Cheltenham, 
where he was based, Wales and elsewhere. 
Cheltenham was best known as a great centre 
of anti-Ritualist sentiment so the book is 
interesting in that it shows that even there the 
new Ecclesiological ideas permeated. 
Middleton designed five churches for 
Cheltenham, one of which (All Saints) became 
an Anglo-Catholic centre and another of which 
(St Stephen) was under the cure of the author 
and where a memorial stone to his memory was 
recently unveiled. Middleton also worked at St 
David’s College, Lampeter and restored many 
churches in Wales. This is an interesting read, 
still available, but the pictures are not well 
produced. 

Michael Yelton 
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The Church of 
England and the  
Home Front 1914-
1918: Civilians, 
Soldiers and Religion 
in Wartime Colchester 
by Robert Beaken 
Published by The 
Boydell Press, 2015 
ISBN 9781 78327 0514 

 
There have been significant studies of the 
Church of England in relation to the First 
World War, but the emphasis has almost 
entirely fallen on the work of chaplains on the 
Front, bellicose sermons by bishops, and 
changes in such things as attitudes towards 
prayers for the dead as a consequence of the 
loss of so many – and often young – lives. 
There have also been significant studies of the 
aftermath of the war in memorialisation, war 
graves and the development of the annual 
rituals of remembrance, which still enjoy a 
perhaps surprising vitality. 
 In this well-written book Robert Beaken 
assesses the ministry of the Church not on 
Flanders Fields but in the garrison town of 
Colchester. It is an appropriately chosen cameo, 
given that Colchester had a significant military 
presence, its garrison providing a stream of 
soldiers passing through, wounded soldiers 
returning, and an involvement of military and 
civic authority. Dr Beaken has also the 
advantage of having served as a parish priest in 
Colchester and therefore knows the local 
history and community, as well as bringing a 
shrewd pastoral eye to the story he tells. 
 Drawing on primary sources as diverse as 
the diaries of King George V and the local 
Colchester parish magazines, as well as the 
Chelmsford Diocesan archives and local history 
collections in Colchester and collections in the 
Imperial War Museum and Lambeth Palace, 
Beaken tells a story of the parish churches and 
clergy of Colchester responding in a sensitive 
and pro-active way to the pastoral needs of the 
community, with special services and inter-

cessions for those on the field of battle, and the 
care of those bereaved. He explores the 
questions about the liability of the clergy for 
service as army chaplains, with the Evangelical 
Bishop of Chelmsford, Watts-Ditchfield, being 
hostile to clergy abandoning their churches and 
parishioners to serve in non-combatant roles. 
An important chapter is devoted to the theme of 
prayer and worship in Colchester’s different 
parishes with their different churchmanships, as 
well as church parades for the garrison and the 
participation of soldiers in parochial worship 
with a renewed appreciation of Holy 
Communion in the parishes and amongst the 
troops. The National Mission of Repentance 
and Hope in the autumn of 1916 in which the 
Church of England held a simultaneous mission 
in every diocese and parish in England, has not 
received the attention it deserves, and once 
again the author’s careful analysis of how the 
mission was conceived and planned for 
nationally and carried out in Colchester enables 
us to see in detail how the work of the mission 
was effected on the ground. 
 Colchester’s churches also responded to the 
National Days of Prayer. George Behr, at the 
Anglo-Catholic St Stephen’s, recorded how the 
3rd January 1915 was kept as a whole ‘Day of 
Watching’. It began with a Eucharist at 
6.00 a.m., another at 9, then a Litany of 
Intercession, followed by meetings of the 
infants and children at 10 and 10.30, then a 
sung celebration at 11 with intercessions for 
those who had fallen in the War, with a special 
hymn, Father, we bring our dead to Thee. 
Further services of intercession for those who 
had fallen followed in the afternoon, leading on 
to Evensong and Compline and a final midnight 
celebration of the Eucharist. It was indeed a day 
of remarkable energy! 
 The publishers are to be congratulated on a 
handsomely produced and clearly printed book, 
and author and publisher on the excellent 
illustrations, which admirably complement the 
text. As Dr Beaken comments, his book 
challenges the idea that the Church of England 
had a ‘bad’ First World War. He demonstrates 
clearly that “The Church of England had a 
mixed, and on the whole, a better war, at a 



http://www.moorleys.1freecart.com/
mailto:edward.luscombe@blueyonder.co.uk
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SEMINAR – ERIC MILNER-WHITE 
Eric Milner-White (1884-1963): Priest, 
Soldier, Churchman, Educationalist, 
Liturgist and Collector 

 
Eric Milner-White was a significant Anglican 
churchman for five decades in the twentieth 
century. Educated at Harrow and King’s 
College, Cambridge, he was ordained in 1908 
and served as rector of St Mary Magdalene, 
Woolwich. An Anglo-Catholic, he was a 
founder member of the Oratory of the Good 
Shepherd in Cambridge. An army chaplain 
throughout the Great War, he was awarded a 
DSO for gallantry and also came into conflict 
with the Chaplain-General of the Forces. He 
became Dean of King’s College, Cambridge in 
1918, remaining in that post until becoming 
Dean of York in 1941 where he continued until 
his death in 1963.  
 At King’s his most notable innovation was 
the adopting of the Festival of Nine Lessons 
and Carols for the Christmas Eve Service, 
which had been pioneered at Truro. Through its 
being broadcast by the BBC from the late 
1920s, it quickly became an event known all 
over the English-speaking world and remains 
so. At York his most well-known and 
controversial achievement was the restoration 
and re-installation of much of the Minster’s 
medieval glass, a project which divides opinion 
still. But he was also very active and influential 
in the civic life of the city and led the group of 

powerful local figures in the ultimately 
successful campaign to secure the founding a 
university between 1947 and 1960 
 White’s impact was also felt more widely 
through the church as an imaginative liturgist, 
sensitive writer of prayers and informed 
biblical translator. Independently wealthy, he 
built up an important collection of ceramics and 
paintings as well as being an enthusiastic reader 
of detective stories and a devotee and patron of 
the ballet.  
 The Oliver Sheldon Memorial Trust was 
established in the memory of one of the other 
leaders of the civic revival in York after 1945. 
Its general charitable purpose is to enhance the 
popular understanding of the City of York’s 
history and civic traditions. As an expression of 
this the Trustees have promoted a series of 
lectures and seminars over the last few years to 
reassess significant figures in York’s history 
since 1945. Eric Milner-White is clearly a 
member of this company, which includes 
Sheldon himself, J.B. Morrell, George Harris, 
Lord James of Rusholme and others. In the case 
of Milner-White the Trustees decided to host a 
seminar in the first instance to bring together 
those scholars and others who had interests in 
the various aspects of his life and times. 
 The seminar is to take place on Saturday 
11th June 2016 in the University of York as 
part of its annual Festival of Ideas and this also 
coincides with the performances in York 
Minster of the city’s Mystery Plays, whose 
revival in the 1950s was due in no small part to 
Milner-White. This abstract is to invite interest 
in Milner-White, his life and activities and their 
wider significance. More directly it asks for 
declarations of interest among those who would 
like to contribute to the seminar in terms of 
papers (long or short), notes, oral insights or 
through simply attending. 

If you would like to contribute in any way, 
please contact allenwarren01@btinternet.com 
or by mail to Dr Allen Warren, 6 Sand Hutton, 
York YO41 1JZ.  

Further details will be circulated in the New 
Year. I look forward to hearing from you. 

Allen Warren 

mailto:allenwarren01@btinternet.com
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